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COMPLAINT 

 Relator David Payne, acting on behalf of the United States of America and himself, 

alleges as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a qui tam action against defendants Fluor Corporation and Fluor 

Intercontinental, Inc. (collectively, “Defendants” or “Fluor”) alleging a failure to follow proper 

procedures concerning the inventorying of property belonging to the United States of America 

(“United States” or “Government”) and failure to notify the United States when property owned 

by the Government was lost, stolen, or otherwise not accounted for, in violation of the False 

Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq. In so doing, Fluor made false records or statements 

material to false claims for payment to the Department of Defense (“DOD”). 

2.  The United States Army’s Logistics Civil Augmentation Program (“LOGCAP”) 

was established by the United States Army in 1985 so that the Army Corps of Engineers could 

fund and manage the then-nascent outsourcing of historically-military functions to civilian 
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construction contractors. The conflicts in Afghanistan and Iraq led to the expansion of LOGCAP, 

which became a primary method of contracting and paying for services. This was accomplished 

through “service contracts,” which are defined by the Federal Acquisition Regulation (“FAR”) 

37, Subpart 37.1, as contracts that directly engage the time and effort of a contractor whose 

primary purpose is to perform an identifiable task rather than to supply material.   

3.  In April 2008, the DOD awarded the fourth generation of support contracts, 

LOGCAP IV, to three contractors, including Fluor. The LOGCAP IV contracts are indefinite-

quantity/indefinite-delivery contracts with one base year and nine option years. Each of the three 

contracts has a maximum value of $5 billion per year. This allows the Army to award a total 

annual maximum value of $15 billion and a lifetime maximum value of $150 billion. 

4.  Task orders were to be awarded among the three contractors based on the best 

value and cost, after an open competition among the contractors, as determined by the Army 

Sustainment Command (“ASC”), which serves as the logistics integrator for the contracting 

needs of the military worldwide, and by the Defense Contract Management Agency (“DCMA”).1   

5.  Fluor was awarded contract W52P1J-07-D-0008 and subsequently competed for, 

and was awarded, various task orders to include cost-plus-award-fee contracts.2   

                                                 
1  The ASC was created in 2006 for contingency contracting and to serve the sustainment 

needs of the military worldwide. In 2010, the Congressional Research Service (“CRS”) reported 

that ASC had oversight of approximately 65,000 contractors and managed about $25 billion in 

contracts. “Defense Logistical Support Contracts in Iraq and Afghanistan: Issues for Congress,” 

Congressional Research Service, September 20, 2010.   

 
2  A cost-plus-award-fee contract commits the United States to payment for allowable 

incurred costs. The fee consists of a fixed base amount plus an award amount based on the 

contractor’s performance. 
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6.  On September 25, 2008, the ASC awarded Task Order 002 to Fluor. Task Order 

002 sought to establish a Program Management Office (“PMO”) to provide logistical support 

services in Afghanistan to the American and coalition force personnel in the field. As part of this 

task order, Fluor was responsible for receiving, managing, disseminating, and accounting for vast 

amounts of property owned by the United States. 

7.  This complaint details Fluor’s (1) intentional and systematic failures to comply 

with the FARs, as well as Fluor’s Government Property Control System (“GPCS”) and Material 

Management Plan (“MMP”), the last two items having been presented to and approved by the 

Government and which set forth the policies and procedures governing Fluor’s receipt, 

maintenance, and securing of Government property; and (2) gross abuse of property-

management systems, including, for example, the Lost, Theft, Damaged, or Destroyed 

(“LTDD”) reporting process.3  

8.  Fluor engaged in these schemes in order to avoid detection of its gross 

mismanagement of Government property in Afghanistan and to obtain Relief of Responsibility 

(“ROR”) from DCMA, which allows Fluor to avoid liability for the unaccounted-for 

Government property. 

9. Fluor has been on notice of its intentional and systematic failures and 

noncompliance since, at the latest, November 2010, when DCMA conducted a Property 

Management System Analysis at Bagram Airfield (“Bagram AF”) and found that Fluor’s policies 

and procedures concerning Government property were inadequate and noncompliant with FAR 

                                                 
3  Fluor also manipulated and misrepresented information with regard to various other 

disposition processes (e.g., through PCARSS, Retrosort, and MRT) to avoid scrutiny by the 

Government and to spread out identified losses over time. 
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Part 45.5 in the following areas: Property Management, Property Acquisition, Property Receipt, 

Recordkeeping, Physical Inventories, Reports, Utilization of Property, and Maintenance. These 

findings were detailed in a report drafted by Derek A. Urban, Theatre Property Administrator for 

DCMA, and provided to George Rabb, Country Project Manager for the Fluor Government 

Group4 under LOGCAP IV, on November 16, 2010 (hereinafter, the “2010 DCMA Audit”).  

10. Fluor did not rectify the issues raised by the Audit, and the same failures and 

noncompliance concerning Government property continued for years. 

11.  Fluor’s failure to disclose violations of policies and procedures required under the 

FAR and pursuant to contractual obligations, and its failure to disclose accurate information 

about the loss, theft, damage, or destruction to Government property, would have been material 

to the United States’ decision to approve Fluor’s claims submitted to the DCMA and/or to 

release Fluor from liability for the loss, theft, damage, or destruction of Government property 

that Fluor was contracted to maintain. 

12.  Relator David Payne, who worked in Fluor’s Security Department, investigated 

Fluor’s government-property-management system from late 2011, until the end of 2016. When 

he discovered and reported serious violations and extensive noncompliance, Fluor retaliated by 

disciplining and demoting him. After Payne appealed his demotion and disciplinary action, he 

was reinstated into his position (albeit in a different job role and office). Fluor subsequently 

retaliated against him by adversely affecting the terms and conditions of his employment, 

ultimately leading to his constructive discharge. 

                                                 
4  “Country” in the title of a Fluor management position identified the Fluor personnel 

who were responsible for oversight of Fluor operations throughout Afghanistan, rather than 

oversight of a particular site or FOB. 
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II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13.  This court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 31 

U.S.C. § 3732(a) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because 

the Defendants do business in the State of South Carolina and there administered the contract or 

contracts at issue. 

14.  Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) 

because Defendants operate facilities and conduct business in Greenville, South Carolina, and 

Fluor Intercontinental, Inc. has a registered address in Greenville, South Carolina. 

III.  PARTIES 

15. The real party in interest to the qui tam claims in this action is the United States of 

America. 

16. Relator David Payne worked for Fluor in its Security Department (“Security”) 

from December 2011 through December 2016. He was initially hired into a Security Specialist 

position, was promoted to Supervisor on June 20, 2014, and then promoted again to Senior 

Supervisor on January 24, 2015. His work related exclusively to the provision of security 

services in Afghanistan, pursuant to Fluor’s contract with the United States through LOGCAP. 

17. Relator is the original source of the information upon which this complaint is 

based, both literally because he reported it to the United States beginning in January 2013, and as 

that phrase is used in the False Claims Act. 

18.  Prior to filing this action, Relator voluntarily disclosed to the United States the 

information on which his allegations are based. Additionally, should there have been a public 

disclosure of any aspect of these allegations prior to the filing of this action, Relator has 
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knowledge that is independent of and materially adds to the publicly disclosed allegations or 

transactions. 

19.  Fluor Corporation is a multinational engineering and construction firm 

headquartered in Irving, Texas and incorporated in Delaware. Fluor’s Government Group 

(“FGG”) provides various services, including facilities and base operations logistical support, to 

agencies of the United States, including the DOD, located throughout the world. The Property 

Division (“Property”) falls under the FGG, and the Material Management Department (“MMD”), 

also referred to as the Material Management Group, is under the umbrella of Property. The 

MMD oversees the receipt, maintenance, control and security of Government property. There 

was a main contingent of MMD personnel at Bagram AF, though MMD personnel were usually 

deployed to other sites, as well. 

20.  Fluor Intercontinental, Inc. is a subsidiary of Fluor Corporation. It started doing 

business in California in 1912, and has been registered, since April 18, 2006, in South Carolina.  

IV.  RULE 9(b), FED. R. CIV. P. ALLEGATIONS 

 21. Some of the information necessary to prove the allegations set out in this 

Complaint is exclusively in the possession of the Defendants. 

 22.  Each allegation herein that is made upon information and belief identifies a 

situation in which Relator has, based on his knowledge and experience, a reasoned factual basis 

to believe the allegation, but may lack complete factual knowledge of it. 
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V. LEGAL, REGULATORY, AND CONTRACTUAL FRAMEWORK 

A. The False Claims Act 

23.  The False Claims Act (“FCA”) was originally enacted during the Civil War, and 

was substantially amended in 1986 and in 2009. Congress enacted these amendments to enhance 

and modernize the government’s tools for recovering losses sustained by frauds against it after 

finding that federal program fraud was pervasive. The amendments were intended to create 

incentives for individuals with knowledge of fraud against the government to disclose the 

information without fear of reprisals or government inaction, and to encourage the private bar to 

commit resources to prosecuting fraud on the government’s behalf. 

 24. The FCA prohibits, inter alia, (a) knowingly presenting or causing to be presented 

a false or fraudulent claim; (b) knowingly making, using, or causing to be made or used, a false 

record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim; and (c) conspiring to violate either of 

the preceding provisions. 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A)-(C). Any person who violates the FCA is 

liable for treble the amount of damages sustained by the United States plus civil penalties.   

 25. The FCA defines “knowingly” as “hav[ing] actual knowledge of the information,” 

“act[ing] in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information,” or “act[ing] in 

reckless disregard of the information.” 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(1). It requires no proof of specific 

intent to defraud. Id. 

 26. The FCA defines “material” as “having a natural tendency to influence, or be 

capable of influencing, the payment or receipt of money or property.” 31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(4). 

 27. The FCA allows any person having information about false or fraudulent claims 

to bring an action on behalf of the government and to share in any recovery. The statute requires 
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that the complaint be filed under seal for a minimum of 60 days (without service on the 

defendants during that time) to enable the United States to (a) conduct its own investigation 

without the defendants’ knowledge, and (b) determine whether to join the action. 

 B. The Federal Acquisition Regulations  

   28. The regulations governing a contractor’s obligations with regard to Government 

property are contained in the FARs, codified in Title 48 of the Code of Federal Regulations.   

 29. The LOGCAP IV contract between Fluor and the United States is governed by 

various FARs and Defense Federal Acquisition Regulations (“DFARs”).   

 30. All property held by Fluor in Afghanistan belongs to the United States. 48 C.F.R. 

§ 52.245-1(e). Fluor contracted to receive, distribute, inventory, account for, and otherwise 

manage that Government property.   

 31. Fluor is required promptly to document the receipt of all Government property 

delivered to it, to comply with the requisite recording requirements, and to mark the property to 

identify it as belonging to the United States. FAR 52.245-1(f)(1)(ii). 

 32. Fluor’s property control records are official government records and, as such, 

must provide a complete, current, and auditable record of all transactions involving the property. 

FAR 52.245-1(f)(1)(iii).  

 33. Fluor utilizes an IBM database/computer system called Maximo Asset 

Management (“Maximo”) to assist in maintaining the required records concerning Government 

property. Fluor holds Maximo out as providing complete, current, and auditable records of all 

transactions involving Government property that Fluor has been contracted to receive, inventory, 
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secure, and maintain. Fluor refers to Maximo as the “system of record.” A roster of Maximo 

password holders shows more than 2,200 active users in mid-2013.  

 34. FAR 52.245-1(f)(1)(vii) requires Fluor to have a documented process that enables 

it to promptly recognize, investigate, disclose, and report the loss, theft, damage, or destruction 

of Government property in its possession. Such investigation, disclosure, and reporting must be 

completed as soon as facts about the loss, theft, damage, or destruction become known. Id. 

 35. Fluor is required to perform numerous inventories of Government property and to 

record and disclose those physical inventory results to the Government. FAR 52.245-1(f)(1)(vi).  

 36. After completing the required physical inventory, Fluor routes the inventory 

internally to the Fluor Government Property Representative. The Fluor MMP requires the 

inventory to include completed LTDD reports for each documented shortage.   

 37. A Fluor representative also transmits an “End of Year Inventory Summary” report 

to the DCMA Theater Government Property Administrator (“Property Administrator”).5 The 

inventory is a record that identifies all discrepancies revealed by the physical inventory, together 

with a signed statement certifying what Government property was inventoried, the date that the 

inventory was completed, and that the official property records are in agreement, except for the 

reported discrepancies. 48 C.F.R. § 45.508.6  

                                                 
5  The Property Administrator is an authorized representative of the Government’s 

contracting officer and is responsible for administering the contract requirements and obligations 

relating to Government property in the possession of a contractor.  

 
6  For example, Jarrold (Jerry) Reeves, the Director of Fluor’s MMD, transmitted such a 

report to Tonya A. Tyson, a DCMA employee, on October 30, 2012. The report was submitted 

with a statement that the inventory for Task Order 005 had been performed in accordance with 

the MMP and the FAR (45.508-2).  
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 38. Fluor is financially responsible for the loss of any Government property in its 

possession if that loss resulted from willful misconduct or lack of good faith to establish and 

administer policies and procedures concerning the control, use, protection, preservation, 

maintenance, and repair of Government property, or if those policies and procedures were 

inadequate and/or presented an undue risk to the Government, and Fluor failed to take timely 

corrective action. FAR 52.245-1(h)(1)(ii-iii); 48 C.F.R. § 45.105. 

 C. Overview of the Task Orders 

 39. On July 26, 2010, Norman Powell (“Powell”), Acquisition Executive for Fluor’s 

Government business segment, summarized Fluor’s LOGCAP IV task order awards during 

testimony before the Wartime Contracting Commission. According to Powell, Fluor’s first award 

was Task Order 002 (in September 2008) for the expansion of the Afghanistan Regional 

Command (“RC”) East. The task order sought to establish and continue life support for life 

support for Forward Operating Bases (“FOBs”).   

 40. This was followed by Task Order 003, awarded in October 2008 and covering 

calibration and repair services for military equipment in Iraq and Afghanistan.   

 41. In December 2008, Task Order 004 was awarded, covering construction, 

expansion, and continuing life support of eight FOBs in Afghanistan RC South. Near the end of 

July 2010, Task Order 004 was transitioned to DynCorp. 

 42. Fluor was awarded Task Order 005 in July 2009, for base life support and theatre 

transportation functions for United States and coalition forces in the Afghanistan North Area of 

Responsibility. The cost to the United States of Task Order 005 exceeded $7 billion over five 

years, with a base year and four one-year optional extensions. Under Task Order 005, Fluor 
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promised construction services, power, water, housing, base operations, sustainment services and 

logistics support, to include, as relevant here, property management and disposition services. 

 43. Through LOGCAP IV and the Task Orders, Fluor assumed responsibility for 

receiving, managing, disseminating, and accounting for vast amounts of Government property 

across the Afghanistan theatre. In return for the provision of these services in accordance with 

contractual and legal requirements, the Government promised to pay Fluor billions of dollars.   

 D. The Controlling Plans 

 44. Fluor was required to submit its GPCS and MMP to DOD contract management 

personnel for approval. These documents provide the Government with the policies and 

procedures that will be implemented to receive, secure, and maintain Government property. The 

GPCS is the overarching master plan, and the MMP implements the policies and procedures set 

forth in the GPCS at a more local level, including within the Material Department. Once the 

government has approved these processes, amendment or modification is permitted only upon 

further approval by the United States.  

  1. The Government Property Control System (“GPCS”) 

 45. The GPCS is based on relevant government regulations and acknowledges that 

Fluor was tasked with the oversight and maintenance of Government property. It states: 

This practice defines the methodology and process used by [FGG] to manage and 

control both client- and FGG-owned property in the possession of FGG during the 

performance period of awarded contracts. This practice is derived from [FARs 

and DFARs], Industry Leading Practices, and Voluntary Consensus Standards 

that include the International Standardization Organization [] and the American 

Society for Testing and Materials [] Standards International… As stewards of 

client-owned property, the goal of this practice is to employ sound business 

judgment and provide best value to the FGG client providing life cycle 

management of equipment and materials entrusted to FGG for contract 

performance. 

6:18-cv-01000-BHH     Date Filed 04/12/18    Entry Number 1     Page 12 of 42



12 

 

 

GPCS 620.490.0133 (effective date 9/01/2011) at p. 1. 

 

 46. The GPCS states (on page 6) that “[t]he written policies and procedures that 

provide for effective property control of each type of [Government]-owned item of property in 

FGG’s possession are contained in this practice. The intent of this practice is to comply with the 

requirements of FAR 52.245-1.” 

 47. The GPCS also sets forth policy on physical inventories (discussed further below) 

and losses of Government property.  

 48. Page 9 of the GPCS indicates that when Government property cannot be 

accounted for, Security takes the lead in preparing the incident report to be used in LTDD 

reports. These incident reports are dispositioned internally, and final reports are provided to the 

Property Administrator.  

 49. The GPCS references (on Page 12) that “[a]ll reports required by the FAR 

property clause 52.245-1 in the contract are prepared, reviewed for accuracy and completeness, 

and submitted to the [Property Administrator] to meet due dates.” The GPCS goes on to identify 

the specific requirements and elements of a LTDD report and discusses other Fluor reports that 

are submitted to the Property Administrator (i.e., physical verification inventory reports, audits, 

self-assessments, and correction actions).  

  2. The Material Management Plan (“MMP”) 

 50. The MMP is a reference and guide for policies and procedures set out in the 

GPCS concerning LTDD reports and inventories. For example, Section 4.5.12.6.1 the MMP sets 
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forth the policies and procedures for conducting inventories.7 

 51. The MMP outlines requirements for daily random spot checks, monthly site 

inventories, 10% monthly inventories of all property, 100% monthly inventories of sensitive 

items, and 100% physical yearly inventories.  

 52. The MMP sets out procedures for transferring items to a Defense Reutilization 

Marketing Office (“DRMO”) Storeroom and documenting any inventory shortages.  

 53. In addition, the MMP requires that detailed corrective action reports (“CARs”) be 

submitted in support of a LTDD report. A CAR identifies serious or systemic noncompliance 

and suggests a plan to correct that noncompliance. A Corrective Action Plan (“CAP”) is then 

submitted to DMCA in response by the contractor, and the contractor must implement the CAP 

as approved by DCMA. In practice, CARs are infrequent and result only when informal methods 

have failed to remedy problems. 

 54. Section 4.6 of the MMP, “Government Property Administration,” acknowledges 

Fluor’s obligations with regard to the maintenance and security of Government property: 

FGG has a contractual obligation to adhere to [Government] regulations and the 

applicable contract clauses as they relate to stewardship and management of 

Government property in the possession of contractors. FGG is directly 

accountable for all Government property in its possession, acquired or furnished 

under [Government] contracts to include property in the possession of affiliate 

companies and subcontractors. FGG will provide qualified personnel with the 

property management skills and experience necessary to maintain a contract 

compliant property control system. 

 

  3. The Task Order Execution Plans 

 55. Fluor also created Task Order Execution Plans (“TOEPs”). For example, on June 

                                                 
7  All MMP citations and references herein refer to Revision 4, September 12, 2011, 

LOGCAP Contract W52P1J-07-D-0008.    
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15, 2009, Fluor issued a draft document titled “US Army Sustainment Command (ASC), 

Logistics Civil Augmentation Program (LOGCAP IV), Afghanistan Area of Operations (AOR) 

Expansion North, W52P1J-07-D-0008/0005, TASK ORDER EXECUTION PLAN” (hereinafter 

referred to as the “Expansion North TOEP”).8  

 56. The Expansion North TOEP established the “execution philosophy, describe[d] 

the project scope of work, and define[d] the organization, work processes, and systems necessary 

for management of the project.” This TOEP also indicated that the plan was developed per the 

requirements of the prime contract and the MMP, and that work under the task order was based 

on the requirements within Contract No.W52P1J-07-D-0008. 

 57. Task Order 005 described the planned transition to Fluor of responsibility for 62 

northern Afghanistan FOBs, and included additional requirements involving transitions of other 

FOBs that were managed under Task Orders 002 and 004 (to include transitioning responsibility 

for eight FOBs). The Expansion North TOEP included a discussion of Government Property 

transfer and material control that was relevant to Task Order 005. Section 12.0 of the Expansion 

North TOEP covered the material management aspects of the plan and referenced Fluor’s 

LOGCAP IV Material Management Plan, Rev. 2 (June 30, 2009) for further detail.  

 58. The Expansion North TOEP (at Section 12.3.1) also specifically stated that the 

LOGCAP IV program would utilize Fluor’s proprietary procurement management software—

i.e., Material Manager (also referred to as “MatMan”) and Maximo—to record and control 

Government property.   

 59. Furthermore, Section 12.7 of the TOEP, titled “Government Property 

                                                 
8  The final version of the plan was issued on August 14, 2009. 
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Administration,” tracks above-referenced language in the MMP when it states that FGG “has a 

contractual obligation to adhere to [Government] regulations and the applicable contract clauses 

as they relate to stewardship and management of Government property in the possession of 

contractors. FGG is directly accountable for all Government property in its possession, acquired 

or furnished under [Government] contracts to include property in the possession of affiliate 

companies and subcontractors.”  

 E. Loss, Theft, Damaged, Destroyed (“LTDD”) Reporting Obligations 

 60. The LTDD process facilitates cost assignment for lost, stolen, damaged, and 

destroyed Government property. It allows contractors to submit instances of lost, stolen, 

damaged, or destroyed property to the Government, which may then task the Property 

Administrator to investigate the report in order to determine whether the contractor is financially 

responsible. If the contractor is liable, the contractor must pay the Government for the damages. 

If the contractor is not liable, the case may be closed.    

 61. The LTDD system requires prompt notification to the Government of loss, theft, 

damage, or destruction to Government property, so that the United States may determine liability 

for such losses.9 Fluor is required to comply strictly with its LTDD reporting obligations. Fluor 

details the process for managing, investigating, and drafting LTDD reports in Section 4.6.11 of 

the MMP.    

 62. Section 6.6.11.1 of the MMP states: “Incidents of Government Property LTDD 

shall be reported to the Fluor Government Property representative immediately upon discovery 

                                                 
9  LTDD reports are typically event and time specific, so it would be unusual for a single 

LTDD report to cover either various types of losses or extended periods of time. 
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by the individual or custodian responsible and accountable for the subject property or the 

individual that witnessed or discovered the incident/loss.”   

 63. Section 4.5.12.6.2 (titled “Adjusting Inventory Records”) sets forth the process 

for adjusting inventory records when shortages are discovered. This Section of the MMP requires 

that “[a]ny shortages [] be reported to Property [no later than] the following Saturday in which 

the shortage was found and be processed as an LTDD.” The same section of the MMP requires 

that “[d]eficiencies within Overages and Shortages will be compiled and reported to the Property 

office on each Saturday not to exceed a total of 13 days from the date of initial discovery 

…All LTDD submittals will require a detailed [CAR] to be submitted in support of the LTDD.”  

 64. Fluor submits its LTDD reports to the United States through DCMA. If DCMA 

determines that Fluor is financially responsible, Fluor must pay the United States for the value of 

the lost, stolen, damaged or destroyed property. If DCMA determines that Fluor is not liable, it 

will issue Fluor a “Relief of Responsibility” letter. The letter is issued based, at least in part, on 

the information provided by Fluor to DCMA about its compliance with policies and procedures 

concerning the receipt, maintenance, storage, and security of Government property. 

 65. Cases submitted by LTDD reporting are closed only when there is a determination 

that the contractor is not liable for the lost, stolen, damaged, or destroyed property, or when the 

contractor has paid the total assessed liability amount. 

 66. A contractor (such as Fluor) that is required to maintain and follow a LTDD 

program may be liable to the United States for the full value of Government property that cannot 

be traced, if the contractor has failed to maintain an acceptable Property Control/Management 

System. FAR 52.245(h)(1), (4). 
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 67. During Payne’s employment with Fluor in Afghanistan he (along with Alma 

Leighton, another Fluor Security employee) directly performed numerous LTDD investigations 

and/or supervised and/or reviewed nearly all LTDDs that were prepared by other Fluor 

employees. Payne describes the review process as rigorous because his supervisor, Bryan 

Wilson, Security Senior Manager (III), wanted to ensure all LTDDs with negative monetary 

findings or any derogatory information were factual and completely supported.   

 F. Overview of Inventories 

 68. Fluor uses the Maximo software to manage its government-property inventory 

functions. Each user accessing Maximo has a unique user identification, so it is usually possible 

to determine who has entered in, modified, or deleted information from Maximo.10    

 69. Fluor must perform two types of physical inventories on a monthly basis: an 

inventory of 10% of all items (the “10% Inventory”) and an inventory of 100% of sensitive items 

(the “100% Inventory”). Information from Maximo is used to report the results of both types of 

inventories. 

 70. The 10% Inventory is a monthly physical inventory of 10% of the consumable 

Government property that is under Fluor’s control. Maximo is customized to identify, randomly, 

10% of non-sensitive items that are supposed to be in Fluor’s government-property stores. Thus, 

                                                 
10  There are certain instances where data transactions in Maximo are associated with a 

user/user level identified as “MAXADMIN.” Security personnel were informed that 

“MAXADMIN” transactions can be discerned and separated by specific employee, but only 

through information technology staff located in Greenville, SC. Within Fluor, the process for 

obtaining such information required submission of a System Request.   
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over the course of a year, much of the consumable inventory would have been looked 

at/inventoried. 

 71. Sensitive items (e.g., cellphones, GPS, cameras) must be completely inventoried 

on a monthly basis.   

 72. Fluor is also required to prepare and submit an End of Year Inventory (“EOY 

Inventory”) summary, which is generally completed around the end of each Fiscal Year (“FY”). 

The EOY Inventory is compiled from the monthly 10% Inventories, and the summary of the 

EOY Inventory is submitted to DCMA. 

 73. When military sites closed or were transitioned to the Afghan military, Fluor was 

required to do Site Close Out (or Property Reallocation Plan (“PRP”)) inventories to account for 

and assist in the effective disposition of Government property.11   

VI. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 A. Payne’s Job Performance 

 74. Payne was hired by Fluor in late 2011 and assigned to its Security Department. 

He was deployed to Bagram AF in Bagram, Afghanistan. 12 He arrived there on or about 

December 9, 2011, where he worked until December 2016.   

                                                 

 11  Payne was told that Fluor completed these required close-out inventories only 

sporadically, but reported to the Government that these inventories had been completed 100% of 

the time. After Security repeatedly mentioned that failure to complete these inventories was 

another example of Fluor’s non-compliance with the FARs and obligations under the GPCS, 

MMP, and other written Fluor policies and procedures, the Material Department obtained a 

waiver from DCMA to release Fluor from having to perform PRP inventories. 

 

 12  One of Payne’s former managers at a prior job (with a competitor company called 

KBR), Robert Fiorille, was working for Fluor as a Security Manager and personally recruited 

Payne for the Fluor Security position at Bagram AF due, in part, to his investigative expertise.  
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 75. During the majority of his assignment in Afghanistan, Payne was exclusively 

tasked with material investigations. His investigative steps included interviewing MMD 

employees and reviewing physical and electronic records (including information in Maximo). 

Through his investigations, Payne quickly discovered that Fluor’s material management system 

was out of control. (Just in his first week at Bagram AF, he prepared and processed more LTDD 

reports than he had prepared during his entire multi-year tenure as a Security 

Technician/Specialist for KBR.) 

 76. During his employment with Fluor, Payne consistently demonstrated strong, 

ethical skills in his assigned investigations. This was demonstrated through his performance 

evaluations, as he consistently met or exceeded all performance elements. 

 77. In his first assessment (covering November 28, 2011 through November 28, 2012, 

which included his original deployment to Bagram AF), Payne received an “exceeds 

expectations” rating under the elements concerning his knowledge and quality of work and his 

integrity.  

 78. In fact, in his evaluation, Payne’s evaluator commented that Payne was “fully 

competent in Fluor Security practices for documenting Lost, Theft, Damaged, Destroyed 

(LTDD) reporting, supporting government operations in contingency environments. He 

continually improves processes and procedures for Security report writing to ensure that accurate 

and detail specific products are provided to management.” 

 79. The evaluator also stated that Payne “produc[ed] a high quality of work. He 

implements thorough and effective practices ensuring that Security reports consistently meet 

Country Security Management expectations for report writing / documentation.” 
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 80. And, with regard to Payne’s integrity, the evaluator observed that Payne 

“[c]onsistently displays high personal integrity, exercise[s] sound judgment in complex decisions 

while maintaining quality and compliance…[and is r]elied upon to understand relevant 

procedures and take actions founded in policy, compliance, and best ethical practices.”   

 81. In his second assessment period (covering November 28, 2012 through November 

28, 2013), Payne again exceeded expectations in the categories of knowledge of work, quality of 

work, and integrity.  

 82. In his second evaluation, Payne’s evaluator found that he “[e]xceeds 

understanding the body of knowledge as pertains to [LTDD] reporting . . . as well as U.S. 

Government policy and regulations governing the work of his Section.” The evaluator also noted 

that he “demonstrate[ed] superior attention to details” and that “[h]is reports and products 

continually exceed the standard expectations of his position.” The evaluator further noted that 

Payne’s integrity was “beyond reproach.”  

 B. Corporate Knowledge 

 83. Payne’s assignments at Fluor included primary responsibility for conducting 

and/or overseeing material loss investigations related to Fluor’s LOGCAP IV contract. His 

investigations uncovered widespread schemes to conceal Fluor’s mismanagement of material 

losses from the U.S. government.   

 84. Payne promptly submitted investigative reports and findings to his immediate 

supervisors and many of his findings were disseminated throughout Fluor to Country Project and 

MMD personnel, Corporate Investigations and Legal Department. The Country Project Manager 

was considered as the highest ranking in-country Fluor representative and could disseminate 
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Security reports and findings, as well as issue directions and/or recommendations, to deployed 

Fluor personnel. 

 85. Payne’s investigative efforts indicated there were clear deviations from Fluor’s 

policies, as well as potential false reporting to the Government, with regard to Fluor’s 

responsibility to manage materials under the terms of the LOGCAP IV contract and specific task 

orders. Despite his attempts to bring Fluor into compliance with the material management 

requirements of the contract, by January 2013, Payne believed his efforts were in vain, and he 

was concerned that Fluor personnel might destroy evidence of the noncompliance. In particular, 

Payne had found and reported instances of deletions from and tampering with the Maximo 

database; he was concerned that evidence concerning these adjustments may be destroyed.   

 86. Thus, in early January, 2013, Payne wrote an anonymous letter addressed to the 

U.S. Army Criminal Investigative Command (“CID”), military police (“MP”), and possibly other 

law enforcement agencies associated with the International Contract Corruption Task Force 

(collectively, “Government law enforcement”). In the letter, Payne reported a number of 

materiality issues that he had observed and advised that Government law enforcement should 

seize laptops and secure the Maximo database. The letter also suggested that law enforcement 

focus on specific Fluor (and one Government) employees who he suspected of colluding to 

conceal material accountability issues. 

 87. The anonymous letter written by Payne was typewritten and approximately 3/4 of 

a page. He placed the letter in a clear plastic document protector.  

 88. Then, about two days after drafting the letter, at approximately 10:30 to 11:30 

p.m., Payne saw a nearby MP officer in an armored vehicle. After the officer got out of the 
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vehicle and walked away, Payne placed his anonymous letter on the vehicle’s windshield, 

underneath a wiper blade. About a minute later, the officer returned to the vehicle, saw Payne’s 

letter, removed it from the windshield, and got into the vehicle with it.  

 89. A few months later, in April 2013, Payne became aware that the Government had 

issued a subpoena for the Maximo database. Around that same time, Payne’s supervisor, Bryan 

Wilson, read aloud parts of an email from Fluor management that contained excerpts of the 

aforementioned anonymous letter. (Because he feared that he would be terminated, Payne did not 

tell Wilson that he had written the letter.) 

 90. Payne continued to report material management concerns up his chain of 

command, including to Wilson and Fiorille.  

 91. From approximately May 8, 2014 through May 17, 2014, Payne also spoke and 

corresponded with Special Agent (“SA”) Deborah Johnson, Special Inspector General for 

Afghanistan Reconstruction (“SIGAR”) about his concerns with Fluor’s lack of compliance with 

the MMP, FAR, and DFAR.  

 92. On or about January 16, 2016, Payne also submitted a complaint (with supporting 

documentation) through Fluor’s online ethics program. The complaint discussed timesheet fraud, 

favoritism, and inequitable treatment and discipline. Martial Robichaud, Fluor’s Lead Corporate 

Security Investigative Manager, followed up with Payne about his complaint. During their 

conversations, Payne and Robichaud discussed the Government property loss issues that Payne 

was finding through his investigations. 
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C. Retaliation Against Payne 

 93. On or about August 31, 2013, Wilson was promoted to Senior Manager of 

Corporate Security at Fluor’s Greenville, S.C. office. In his new position, Wilson still oversaw 

the Fluor Security Group in Afghanistan, so remained in Payne’s supervisory chain of command.  

 94. After he was promoted, Wilson began challenging Payne with regard to the 

LTDD investigations that he was conducting. For example, Wilson would repeatedly ask 

questions like, “Who in the Government do you think really wants to know about these losses?” 

and “Do you think those people are concerned about the losses?” Payne found the interactions 

with Wilson to be manipulative and coercive. 

 95. Over time, Wilson grew increasingly agitated about Payne’s investigation and 

reporting of Fluor’s noncompliance with policies and regulations concerning Government 

property management. This led to Wilson demoting Payne on December 7, 2015.   

 96. After Payne successfully appealed the demotion, Wilson continued to harass him 

by creating working conditions that made it impossible for Payne to successfully perform his job 

duties. Ultimately, Wilson’s harassment led to Payne’s constructive discharge.  

 D. Overview of the Fraudulent Conduct  

 97. Through his work at Fluor, Payne learned that Defendants’ duties to manage 

material under the LOGCAP IV contract were compromised by several systemic failures 

(described below), all of which were reported to Fluor management as they were discovered by 

Security. These failures, described below, were not corrected by Fluor, and Defendants did not 

inform the Government of Fluor’s resulting noncompliance with, inter alia, the GPCS and MMP, 

as well as the FARs and DFARs.  
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 98. Fluor management condoned these practices and refused to implement 

meaningful corrective action to require compliance with the acquisition regulations and its 

contractual obligations to the United States.   

 99. Upon information and belief, Fluor’s noncompliance with the requirements of the 

FAR, DFAR, GPCS, MMP, and the LTDD reporting process (as described in this complaint) 

resulted in over $100 million of unaccounted-for Government property in Afghanistan.13 

  1. Excessive Late Reporting and/or Non-Reporting of Material Loss to  

   Security 

 

 100. Excessive late reporting and/or failure to report material losses to Security 

resulted in either late submission, or no submission, of LTDD reports, which violated Fluor’s 

property management system and government regulations, including the FAR.  

 101. Fluor’s policy generally required that loss, theft, damage, or destruction of or to  

Government property be reported within 72 hours of discovery, but Payne observed or learned of 

multiple examples where such losses were not disclosed for more than a year.14    

                                                 
13  One EOY Inventory Summary Report created in November 2012 lists 17,296 line 

items that appear to add up to over $18.919 million in losses just at Bagram AF. Over the same 

period of time, the Inventory Report lists 48,677 line items that, on the face of the document, add 

up to over $121 million in losses throughout the Afghanistan theatre. 

 

 14  For example, Payne made entries and maintained a Microsoft Excel Workbook titled 

“LTDD Security Report Tracker 01JAN16” on a worksheet titled “IR-LTDD Reports.” This 

worksheet captured various data for all LTDD reports processed by Security. The worksheet 

included a column called “Report Notification,” which contained summary information on the 

timeliness and/or status of an LTDD submission. The column reflected four timeliness 

categories: Late (i.e., the LTDD report was reported within 180 days of the discovery of the 

loss), Delinquent (i.e., the report was made over 180 days, but under 365 days, of the discovery 

of the loss), Extremely Delinquent (i.e., loss was reported over 365 days from date of discovery), 

and Procedural Negligence (i.e., it had been years before the loss was reported). Payne’s 

worksheet reflected approximately 317 instances of LTDD reports that were not reported for 90 
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 102. In some instances when Government property loss was not timely reported, the 

losses were found during aged purchase order and Internal Purchase Requisition (“IPR”) 

reconciliations/close-outs15 directed by Fluor personnel in Greenville, S.C.  

 103. On other occasions, Regional Distribution Center (“RDC”) Managers 

intentionally failed to promptly report losses to avoid scrutiny of their practices. For example, 

sites that had been closed for more than one year failed to submit any site closure LTDD reports 

and often reported near-perfect records of accountability for 10% or 100% Inventories.  

However, when remaining material was brought back to RDCs from FOBs or other locations 

under their management, considerable losses (some of which were referred to as “in-transit 

losses”) were reported. Since there was no evidence of tampering or pilferage during transit, 

Security personnel determined the losses were the result of poor inventory records, as well as 

either miscounting or misidentification of materials by the shipping or receiving sites.  

 104. It was also determined that in the final days before a site closed, materials were 

being issued to existing, but unrelated, work orders for the sole purpose of trying to quickly 

balance the inventory. Essentially, RDC Managers would try to allocate lost materials to a 

project on paper, so that it would appear as if the material was actually accounted-for and not 

“lost” as a result of poor inventory practices prior to a site’s closure. 

                                                 

days; this number is much higher for instances of LTDD reports that exceeded the 72-hour 

reporting requirement.   

 
15  An “aged purchase order” is generally defined as a purchase order that has not been 

filled by a vendor within a specified time period (e.g. 30 days). IPRs are used internally among 

Fluor entities/division to request goods and services. 
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  2. Manipulation, Omission, and False Reporting in Maximo 

 105. Through various reviews of Maximo, Payne discovered multiple instances of 

information being manipulated, omitted, or falsely reported in the database. A description of 

these schemes findings is provided below. 

 106. Payne discovered that Inventory Adjustment Transactions (“IATs”) were entered 

into Maximo without the required justification or memorandum to explain the adjustment.  

 107. Upon information and belief, Work Orders (i.e., requests for services and/or 

supplies) were repeatedly initiated, so that it would appear in Maximo that unaccounted-for 

Government property was being utilized in a project. By doing this, the unaccounted-for 

Government property could be adjusted out of Maximo as material associated with a Work Order 

and thus not be reported through the LTDD process (which would open up potential scrutiny by 

Country Management upon receipt of Fluor’s monthly Inventory Summary Report).    

 108. Payne also discovered that MMD personnel repeatedly adjusted the Maximo 

database system without performing the necessary causative research to validate identified 

overages and shortages. Furthermore, the MMD personnel failed to inform Fluor Property or 

Security of the adjustments and often could not provide the necessary documentation to 

substantiate them. 

 109. Additionally, Payne found that fraudulent Memorandum for Records documents 

(“MFRs”) were prepared in an attempt to justify Maximo record changes and/or failures to 

satisfactorily complete required MMP policies and procedures. There were instances where these 

MFRs were created in 2013, but backdated to support transactions allegedly performed in 2011 

or 2012. 
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 110.  Upon information and belief, Fluor was also allowing employees to access 

Maximo at elevated user access levels and with elevated privileges, but failing to adequately 

train or supervise the employees for such advanced use. These employees were performing 

various critical functions (e.g., creating or deleting work orders) that were typically performed by 

supervisors or managers. 

  3. Virtual (or “ghost”) DRMO16 Storeroom Losses 

 

 111. In September or October of 2012, Payne learned that Fluor property-management 

personnel used entries in the Maximo system to sequester missing property in fictional 

“storerooms,” rather than reporting them on LTDDs.  

112. In November or December of 2012, Payne was evaluating the extent of 

Government property that had been found to be lost by the MMD, but not submitted on an 

LTDD or otherwise dispositioned. 

113. Over the next six months, Payne found that Property (including MMD) personnel 

had placed approximately $30 million worth of Government property in virtual DRMO 

storerooms, or “bins.” Simply put, he found that, according to the Maximo database, $30 million 

worth of unaccounted-for Government property was in physical locations that did not exist. 

These nonexistent “bins” were also called “ghost bins.” 

114. The “contents” of the ghost bins consisted in substantial part of material that was 

not accounted for on Fluor’s required, monthly, 10% Inventories.   

                                                 
16  Defense Reutilization Marketing Office (“DRMO”) is a term that was used for 

locations that accept/manage surplus/excess military property. DRMOs fell under the purview of 

the Defense Logistics Agency (“DLA)/Defense Reutilization Marketing Service, which is now 

known as DLA Disposition Services. 
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115. Payne told Wilson (his supervisor) about his findings, and then he reported it up 

the corporate chain. As a result, in mid-2013, Fluor’s Corporate Investigations operation took 

over the inquiry.   

 116. Wilson also told Payne that MMD management was concerned that these and 

other breakdowns would cast doubt on the reliability and accuracy of previous Fluor EOY ISR 

reports submitted to the Government.   

 117. In approximately March 2013, Ernest Ridley, a high-level MMD manager, and 

Reed Wilson, a MMD Specialist, traveled to Bagram AF from Greenville, S.C. Payne knew that 

Ridley would be travelling to Afghanistan, as he (Payne) had emailed Ridley and others a series 

of questions on March 28, 2013, concerning material shortage issues, including some aspects of 

the DRMO storerooms. Ridley provided a written response to Payne’s emailed questions on or 

about March 29, 2013. One of Payne’s questions pertained to what RDC managers had been told 

regarding inventory losses, and whether the data that was disseminated to RDC Managers 

included DRMO storerooms. Ridley responded, “Transactions that are currently in the DRMO 

storeroom were not included because an inventory adjustment has not been completed on these. 

All transactions in the DRMO storeroom will be inventoried and a subsequent LTDD [report] 

may be initiated.” 

 118. Payne, Ridley, Reed Wilson, Bryan Wilson, and Robert Fiorille met on multiple 

occasions at Bagram AF, so Payne knew that Ridley and Reed Wilson were traveling to various 

RDCs and FOBs on their trip. Payne was told by Ridley, in the presence of Bryan Wilson and 

Fiorelle, that the Greenville team actually determined that the potential missing property (dating 

back to 2010) in the virtual storerooms/ghost bins was valued at $48 million.   
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 119. About a month after Ridley left Bagram AF, he told Payne that the $48 million in 

unaccounted-for Government property had been reduced to $26.9 million. Payne was advised 

that Tony Montalvo (Deputy Project Manager for MMD), Ridley, and Reed Wilson, as well as 

unidentified Fluor personnel in Afghanistan, went through thousands of line items of 

Government property transactions to determine the new loss value. 

   120. Greenville personnel told Payne that the approximately $27 million in lost 

Government property would be submitted on a LTDD report. 

 121. To the best of his knowledge, over the course of his tenure with Fluor, Payne saw 

virtually all LTDD reports covering loss in excess of $3,000 that were submitted to the 

Government, but he did not see any LTDD reports concerning the ghost DRMO inventory.   

  4. Failure to Secure Storage Locations 

 122.  Fluor personnel also failed to adequately or properly secure storage locations that 

held Government property. For example, Fluor did not consistently or satisfactorily implement or 

enforce key control and other basic physical security measures, which resulted in avoidable and 

ongoing losses of Government property.   

  5. Improper Material Disposition Processes 

 123. Payne identified losses of property owned by the United States resulting from 

improper inventory tracking and accountability during the material disposition process, 

including, but not limited to, transactions involving the DRMO storerooms. 
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E. Examples 

  1. Deleted Lumber Line Item: January through July 2012 

 124. In January 2012, Security was notified by Fluor Material Controls Supervisor 

Michael Brooks that lumber was missing at FOB Deh Dadi II. The resulting investigation, which 

Payne was involved in investigating, exposed material, significant noncompliance with the FAR 

and the MMP. Brooks was also sent on a temporary duty (TDY) assignment to FOB Marmal 

where he was found partly responsible for failing to manage receiving for a backlog of trucks 

lined up at the camp perimeter, resulting in the loss of accountability for several million in 

materials/property.   

 125. The investigation revealed that the missing lumber line items had been deleted 

from Maximo. Moreover, the Fluor employee who made the deletion put a note in Maximo 

stating that he was instructed by Fluor RDC Manager Mark Cotharn to make the deletions.  

 126. Under Cotharn’s management, monthly inventories were not being conducted 

accurately or consistently. Otherwise, the Maximo deletions would have been detected prior to 

Security’s investigation. 

 127. No LTDD report was promptly initiated concerning the missing lumber. 

 128. The lumber that was deleted from Maximo (instead of being reported via the 

LTDD process) was valued at $127,047.36. 

 129. The Security report concerning the missing Deh Dadi II lumber was completed 

and submitted to Property in July 2012. MMD management, however, refused to submit the 

report to the Property Administrator, purportedly because of concern about the nature of the 
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allegations made and the verbiage used in the report. Despite their objections, management did 

not provide evidence to refute the findings made in Security’s report. 

  2. Various 2012 Inventory Discrepancies and Violations 

 

 130. From approximately February to March 2012, after initiating multiple 

investigations into the loss of Government property, Payne discovered that numerous Fluor 

departments were not consistently completing the 100% Inventories and reporting them back to 

the MMD.17 Security memorialized the noncompliance in a report, but, at most sites, there was 

little accountability for the failure to do the inventories.18 

 131. In August or September 2012, a Level II CAR was issued to Fluor personnel at 

FOB Fenty for not properly conducting 100% Inventories. 

 132. In October 2012, Security was notified of discrepancies, in the amount of 

approximately $250 million in overages and $230 million in shortages, existing in Maximo. 

 133. On October 21, 2012, Jarrold Reeves issued a policy that, amongst other things, 

contained provisions extending the timeframe to submit LTDD reports after discovering an 

inventory loss, which delayed notification to Security. MMD personnel often delayed 

notification and argued with Security over the loss reporting timelines by claiming that until they 

had established facts to support a “true” loss, they didn’t have to notify Security. (The new 

Reeves policy allowed about 30 days to notify Security, whereas the then-current policy required 

                                                 
17  The valuations on sensitive item losses tended to be small with the exception of one 

large loss at Bagram AF.   

 
18  Due to the sensitive nature of the items covered by the 100% Inventory, coupled with 

the fact that local Afghani employees were often at the sites, failure to do the 100% Inventories 

was potentially a serious security risk. 

 

6:18-cv-01000-BHH     Date Filed 04/12/18    Entry Number 1     Page 32 of 42



32 

 

immediate notification. The extended time to notify Security provided an opportunity to 

manipulate losses, since there was no immediate check on such losses via the initiation of an 

investigation.) However, because it unilaterally tried to modify policies and procedures set forth 

in the MMP, the Reeves policy was rescinded less than four months later (on February 11, 2013).   

 134. On October 31, 2012, Rickey Mackey, Country Property Manager for Fluor,19 

sent an email to Michael “Shane” Ramirez, Fluor’s Theatre Material Manager, and Reeves, 

copying various MMD personnel and management, about the FY 2012 ISR. Mackey asked 

whether the MMD should be submitting a LTDD report for a loss of material valued at $791,426 

for FY 2012. The email goes on to say that “there are numbers for losses that drastically 

contradict those quoted in the [EOY ISR]…These numbers do not add up so I’m asking to be 

sure what’s being said here.” 

 135. In November 2012, Fluor MMD management submitted an EOY ISR for FY 

2012 (October 1, 2011, through September 30, 2012) to DCMA. However, the EOY ISR did not 

indicate that several of the Fluor Areas of Operation (“AOs”)20 either did not perform their 10% 

Inventories at all, or material that was determined to be lost was not recorded properly.  

 136. On or about December 8, 2012, Security interviewed Daniel Ristikj, Fluor’s 

Materials Control Specialist (“MCS”) at FOB Sharana from January through September 

2012. Ristikj advised that when he arrived at the FOB, there was no Materials Lead on site, tools 

                                                 
19  Mackey reported to Reeves and was considered the top ranking Property employee in 

Afghanistan. 

 
20  An “area of operations” (also called “AO”) is an operational area defined by a 

commander for land and maritime forces that should be large enough to accomplish their 

missions and protect their forces. DOD Dictionary of Military and Associated Terms, 

http://www.jcs.mil/Doctrine/DoD-Terminology. 
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and materials had been taken without accountability, and the materials yard was “wide open until 

August 2012” (i.e., eight months after his arrival). He also stated that when he attempted to 

perform a 100% Inventory, 722 line items were short, 315 lines were “overage,” and only 57 

lines were accurate. According to Ristikj, the total value of lost Government property items from 

that inventory amounted to $185,669.89. 

 137. Also, on or about December 8, 2012, Payne interviewed David Erp, RDC 

Manager at the Sharana FOB. Erp was trying to close out FOB Sharana’s books as he was 

scheduled to soon demobilize from the LOGCAP project. Erp told Payne that the majority of the 

loss adjustments were not reported through the required LTDD reporting process and that the 

reasons for loss of Government Property included, amongst other things, failure to follow proper 

procedures, a lack of qualified personnel onsite, and a lack of management in ensuring 

compliance with policies and procedures.  

 138. Many losses reported throughout the year were simply adjusted out of Maximo 

(so as to make it seem that the Government property never existed in the first place, and thus 

could not be unaccounted-for), resulting in an inability to validate actual inventory quantities and 

valuations throughout the year.  

 139. Naturally, this would impact EOY ISRs, which are the inventory documents that 

Fluor presents to the Government. As a result of Fluor’s noncompliance with inventory and 

LTDD requirements, the information presented in the EOY ISR would necessarily be inaccurate 

and/or incomplete. Upon information and belief, MMD management was aware of the 

noncompliance and resulting inventory inaccuracies, but allowed the EOY ISR to be submitted 

to DCMA anyway. 
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140. Upon information and belief, the Government was not notified of Fluor’s 

noncompliance or the resulting inventory inaccuracies.  

  3. Lost Fuel Injector Pumps: May through August 2012 

 141. In May 2012, Security became aware of three incidents of lost or stolen fuel 

injectors and pumps (with a combined value of approximately $118,724.73) at Bagram AF. The 

fuel injectors and pumps were unaccounted for because Bagram MMD personnel were not 

properly tracking the items: rather than using Maximo, as required by the MMP, the employees 

decided they would instead track the items locally using an Excel spreadsheet. Not surprisingly, 

this led to inconsistent inventory practices and inaccurate inventory counts, which resulted in 

many fuel injector pumps being lost or stolen.  

 142. Upon information and belief, DCMA was not notified of the noncompliance prior 

to the involvement of Security. The investigation into the lost fuel injector pumps also revealed 

several critical physical security vulnerabilities in the Bagram AF yard where the pumps were 

kept. Security made several suggestions to address the vulnerabilities, including limiting 

vehicular access to the yard, requiring more stringent key controls, and consolidating high value 

parts into a more restricted area with higher visibility. 

 143. As a result of Security’s investigation of the lost fuel injector pumps at Bagram 

AF, in or about August/September 2012, Level II CAPs were implemented. MMD management 

was upset about the CAPs, and, for a period of time, many sites simply did not implement the 

actions set forth in the CAPs. Instead, they complained that Security was not knowledgeable 

enough, did not review all of the documentation, and disclosed too much negative information to 
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the DCMA. Regardless of these complaints, the MMD (including Senior FGG Material 

Management) did nothing to refute Security’s findings. 

  4. Fenty Container Transfer Violations: January to February 2013 

 144. In January and February 2013, many containers of items from site closures in the 

AO around FOB Fenty began to arrive at Bagram AF. Upon receipt of the containers, it was 

clear that proper procedures had not been followed by the MMD at FOB Fenty, or the respective 

closing sites. For example, no shipping or inventory paperwork accompanied the containers. The 

items in the containers were also improperly stored for shipment—many of the containers were 

not blocked and braced, hazardous material was comingled with consumable items, and sensitive 

items were mixed with non-sensitive items.  

 145. The failure of FOB Fenty MMD personnel to follow proper protocol at the front 

end of the transfer (in response to explicit instructions from MMD senior management, including 

Reeves) created issues with taking an accurate inventory when the containers arrived at Bagram 

AF. The Government was not notified of these inventory issues or lack of positive control and 

accountability, which was contrary to the proper management of Government property required 

by the GPCS and MMP. 

  5. Issues at FOB Salerno: January to March 2013 

 146. The June 2011 ISR from FOB Salerno identified an item shortage valued at over 

$1.25 million. No corresponding LTDD report was ever initiated. Review by Payne in 

approximately January or February 2013 revealed that several line item losses listed in the June 

2011 ISR had been adjusted out of Maximo, so that the losses were no longer reflected in the 

program. This was a violation of the FAR, the GPCS, and the MMP. 
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 147. In addition, Security discovered that, in FY 2012, six perfect inventories21 (five of 

which were consecutive) were reported by MMD management at FOB Salerno. Security 

reviewed the corresponding original physical inventory count sheets compared to the same line 

items in Maximo, however, the data in Maximo showed an entirely different outcome: a 

significant number of the items had shortages, while some had overages, but the identified 

discrepancies clearly showed that the inventories were not perfect at all. 

 148. Physical count sheets at FOB Salerno were also found to be incomplete or altered. 

In one case, there were two sets of count sheets for each month: the original documents that 

showed discrepancies were sent to Fluor’s Country Document Data Management (DDM) 

group,22 while the second set of documents (that had been altered to show no discrepancies) 

remained at FOB Salerno for DCMA audit purposes. 

 149. Upon information and belief, the Government was not promptly notified (if at all) 

of these inventory and reporting issues at FOB Salerno. 

  6. Additional Loss at Various Locations: June through August 2013 

 150. Upon information and belief, in July 2013, the MMD at FOB Fenty found an 

unaccounted-for ventilation hood (which was Government property). However, instead of 

completing a LTDD recovery report and shipping the hood to Bagram AF, where the other 

thirteen ventilation hood components had been sent in February 2013, the Fluor employees at 

FOB Fenty destroyed it. 

                                                 
21  A perfect inventory has neither overage nor shortage. 

 
22  The Country DDM group, located at Bagram AF, is the department that has primary 

responsibility for scanning and archiving documents throughout the Afghanistan theatre.  
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 151. In May 2013, the MMD for the Sharana AO reported a loss valued at over 

$407,000. An additional loss of property, valued at over $619,000, was reported by the Sharana 

AO in August 2013. This loss, though reported in 2013, occurred in 2010 and 2011. MMD 

management never adequately explained how the Government property was lost, nor did they 

explain how the lost material was properly documented and accounted for on the EOY 

summaries that were provided to DCMA over the intervening years. Additional LTDD reports 

for losses and inventory discrepancies, some over two years old, continued to be submitted.  

VII. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

FALSE CLAIMS ACT VIOLATIONS 

31 U.S.C. §§ 3729(a)(1)(A), (B), and (G) 

 

 152. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 151 are realleged as if fully set forth 

below. 

 153. Defendants Fluor Corporation and Fluor Intercontinental, Inc., by and through 

their officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, knowingly presented or caused to be presented 

to the United States false claims for payment or approval under LOGCAP IV in violation of 31 

U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A). 

 154. Defendants Fluor Corporation and Fluor Intercontinental, Inc., by and through 

their officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, knowingly made, used, or caused to be made 

or used a variety of false documents (including Inventory Summary Reports that were based on 

inaccurate and/or incomplete data and LTDD reports) that were material to the United States’ 

decision to pay or approve false claims under LOGCAP IV and/or material the Government’s 
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decision to release Fluor from liability for the loss, theft, damage, or destruction of Government 

property that Fluor was contracted to maintain, in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B). 

 155. Defendants Fluor Corporation and Fluor Intercontinental, Inc., by and through 

their officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, (a) knowingly made, used, or caused to be 

made or used, a variety of false documents (including Inventory Summary Reports that were 

based on inaccurate and/or incomplete data and LTDD reports) that were material to Fluor’s 

obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the Government, and (b) knowingly concealed 

or knowingly and improperly avoided or decreased an obligation to pay or transmit money or 

property to the Government. 

 156. Defendants, by and through their officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, by 

and through its officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, authorized their various officers, 

agents, supervisors, and employees, to take the actions set forth above. 

 157. Defendants, by and through their officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, 

knowingly failed to disclose the above-described conduct, which violated requirements set forth 

in the FAR, the GPCS, and the MMP, and resulted in the United States releasing the Defendants 

from liability for lost, stolen, damaged, or destroyed Government property.  

 158. The resulting claims submitted by the Defendants under the LOGCAP program, 

as well as the claims made for releases from liability for lost, stolen, damaged, or destroyed 

Government property, are false claims.   

 159. Defendants’ actions, if known, would have been material to the United States’ 

decision to pay the resulting claims and/or to release the Defendants from liability for lost, 

stolen, damaged, or destroyed Government property. 
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 160. Defendants’ actions violated material conditions of payment under the FAR, the 

GPCS, and the MMP. 

 161. As set forth herein, Defendant has knowingly violated 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(A), 

(B), and (G), and has thereby damaged the United States by its actions in an amount to be 

determined at trial. 

COUNT II 

FALSE CLAIMS ACT VIOLATION 

31 U.S.C. § 3730(h) 

 

 162. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 161 are incorporated as though fully set 

forth herein.  

 163. Under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730(h), an employee who, because of 

his efforts to stop one or more violations of the False Claims Act, faces adverse employment 

action or discrimination, is entitled to relief. 

 164. Relator engaged in lawful acts in furtherance of his efforts to stop conduct in 

violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729. Defendants Fluor Corporation and Fluor Intercontinental, Inc., by 

and through their officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, were on notice of Relator’s 

objections to Defendants’ conduct described above. As a direct result of his efforts to convince 

Defendants to change their conduct, Defendant retaliated against the Relator by initially 

demoting him, then, after reinstating him, adversely altering the terms and conditions of his 

employment, which led to Relator’s constructive discharge from employment. 

 165. As a direct and proximate result of the actions of Defendants, by and through their 

officers, agents, supervisors, and employees, Relator lost the benefits and privileges of 

employment and has suffered continuing damage to his otherwise successful career. He is 
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entitled to all relief necessary to make him whole, including two times the amount of back pay, 

interest on the back pay, and compensation for special damages sustained as a result of the 

retaliation, including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

VIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Relator, on behalf of the United States and on his own behalf, demands 

judgment against the Defendant, as follows: 

A. That this Court enter judgment against the Defendant in an amount equal to three times 

the amount of damages the United States has sustained because of Defendant’s actions, 

plus a civil penalty of not less than $10,781 and not more than $21,916 for each false 

claim, together with the costs of this action, with interest, including the cost to the United 

States for its expenses related to this action. 

B. That Relator be awarded all costs incurred, including his attorneys’ fees. 

C. That in the event the United States intervenes in this action, Relator be awarded 25% of 

any proceeds of the claim, and that in the event the United States Government does not 

intervene in this action, Relator be awarded 30% of any proceeds of the claim. 

D. That the United States and Relator receive all relief, both in law and in equity, to which 

they are entitled. 

E. That the Court order any other relief which it deems to be appropriate and just. 
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IX. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Relator demands a trial by 

jury on all issues so triable. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

Dated: April 12, 2018    s/Herbert W. Louthian, Jr. 

      HERBERT W. LOUTHIAN, JR. (Fed ID #2729) 

      bert@louthianlaw.com 

      LOUTHIAN LAW FIRM, P.A. 

      P.O. BOX 1299 

      Columbia, SC 29202 

      Telephone: (803) 454-1200 

      Facsimile:  (803) 256-6033 

 

      FREDERICK M. MORGAN, JR. 

      Ohio Bar No. 0027687  

      SONYA A. RAO 

      Massachusetts Bar No. 647170 

      MORGAN VERKAMP LLC 

      35 East 7th Street, Suite 600 

      Cincinnati, Ohio 45202 

      Phone: (513) 651-4400 

      Fax: (513) 651-4405 

      rick.morgan@morganverkamp.com  

      sonya.rao@morganverkamp.com 
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